Oxidative stress induced cellular signaling in RPE cells

Alexa Klettner¹

¹University of Kiel, University Medical Center, Department of Ophthalmology, Arnold-Heller-Str. 3, 24105 Kiel, Germany

TABLE OF CONTENTS

```
1. Abstract
2. Introduction
3. Oxidative stress pathways
         3.1. Oxidative stress stimuli
         3.2. Signaling of life and death
                   3.2.1. Protective signaling
                             3.2.1.1. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
                             3.2.1.2. Nrf2
                             3.2.1.3. VEGF
                             3.2.1.4. Neuroprotectin D1
                   3.2.2. Cell death
                            3.2.2.1. Mitochondrial pathway
                                      3.2.2.1.1. Mitochondrial Permeability Transition
                                      3.2.2.1.2. Bcl-2 family
                                      3.2.2.1.3. Released factors and downstream pathways
                            3.2.2.2. p53
                            3.2.2.3. p66Shc
                            3.2.2.3. Bone morphogenetic protein 4
                            3.2.2.4. Heat shock proteins
                            3.2.2.5. 4-HNE
                   3.2.3. MAPK
                             3.2.3.1. p38
                            3.2.3.2. JNK
                            3.2.3.3. ERK1/2
                            3.2.3.4. AP-1 transcription factors
         3.3. Inflammatory pathways
                   3.3.1. Complement pathway
                   3.3.2. Interleukin secretion
         3.4. Extracellular matrix
4. Summary and Perspective
5. Acknowledgements
6. References
```

1. ABSTRACT

Oxidative stress is an important factor in the etiology of age-related macular degeneration. In the retinal pigment epithelium, oxidative stress induces protective pathways, notably the phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt and the nuclear factor erythroid-2 related factor 2 (Nrf2) pathways, but also vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and neuroprotectin D1 (NPD-1) signaling conduct cell protection. Strong oxidative insults result in cell death, mainly mediated via a mitochondrial apoptotic pathway, including cytochrome c release and caspase activation. The role of mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPK) in oxidative stress signaling is diverse and conflicting, conducting protective as well as apoptotic pathways, in addition to involvement in a variety of other cell responses, such as VEGF or matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) upregulation. In addition to signaling deciding cell fate, first insights in inflammatory and extracellular matrixaltering signaling are emerging.

2. INTRODUCTION

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the leading cause of legal blindness in the industrialized world (1). The etiology of AMD is complex and includes demographic, genetic and environmental aspects (2). Oxidative stress has been widely acknowledged as an important factor contributing to its pathology. A cellbiological model of AMD development presents a concept in which AMD consists of a combination of age-related and AMD-specific changes. In both normal aging and AMD, oxidative stress causes injury of the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and the choriocapillaris, which may result in chronic inflammation and altering of the extracellular matrix. In turn, these alterations impair the supply of oxygen, further damaging the tissue and finally resulting in either atrophy or neovascularization (3). Retinas of patients with AMD show increased oxidative damage and drusen contain high amounts of oxidized proteins (4,5). Also, eyes of AMD patients have a higher

expression of antioxidant enzymes (6,7). The age-related eye disease (ARED) study has shown that antioxidants combined with zinc reduce the progression to advanced stages of AMD, both of the dry and the wet form (8).

The retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), a highly pigmented monolayered epithelium located on the Bruch's membrane between the neuroretina and the choriocapillaris, performs many functions that are indispensable for sustaining vision and is exposed to high amounts of oxidative stress (9,10). Additional to intracellular exposure to reactive oxygen species, the environment and the function of the RPE add profoundly to its oxidative burden. Due to the high oxygen demand of the retina and especially of the macula, oxygen tension surrounding the RPE is very high (11). Light exposure has been linked to the development of AMD, possibly through oxidative stress related pathology (12,13). Blue light illumination induces a wide variety of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the RPE and increases ROS production by the mitochondria while light-induced oxidation is positively associated with age (14-16). Additionally, highly toxic photosensitizers, including the phototoxic age-pigment lipofuscin, add to the oxidative burden (17). Intracellularly, in addition to the mitochondrial electron transport chain, lipid peroxidation from phagocytosed rod outer segments is the main source of intracellular oxidative stress in the RPE (18). The RPE is specifically adapted to a high oxygenated environment, which is essential for its durability (19). The ability of the RPE to cope with oxidative stress, however, decreases with age and the lack of oxidative defense can, at least in a mouse model, directly result in an enhancement of choroidal neovascularization (20).

The topic of this review is to create an overview of the pathways induced by oxidative stress in RPE cells. Oxidative stress generally induces a variety of responses in the cells which are strongly dependent on the type of the cell, as well as the type and concentration of the stressor, and of the time course of stimulation. Depending on the severity of the insult, these responses can either be adaptive or lead to cell death. While oxidative stress induced pathways are rather well described in some cell types, the information on signaling cascades in the RPE is sparse. Caution is to be taken when translating signaling pathways from one cell type to another as the reaction of a given cell type to a given stimulus may differ from the reaction of RPE cells. In this review, pathways that have been shown to be activated by oxidative stress in the RPE are presented, mainly concerning cell fate but also presenting inflammatory and extracellular matrix altering pathways.

3. OXIDATIVE STRESS PATHWAYS

3.1. Oxidative stress stimuli

Oxidative stress can be induced by a variety of molecules and chemicals. Free radicals that contain one or more unpaired electrons and are capable of independent existence, oxygen species, which have been elevated to a higher energy level (e.g. singlet oxygen) or strong oxidizing agents (e.g. hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)), are summarized as reactive oxygen species of which hydrogen

peroxide, superoxide anion, hydroxyl radical, nitric oxide, singlet oxygen, lipid peroxyl radicals and peroxynitrites are pathophysiologically most relevant. Hydrogen peroxide is generated as a byproduct of the B-oxidation of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, which make up a great portion of the lipids in ingested photoreceptor outer segments and, if applied extracellularly, readily crosses the plasma membrane. Superoxide anion (O_2) is a byproduct of mitochondrial respiration and is converted into H₂O₂ by superoxide dismutase (SOD) 2 (21). In the presence of redox active metal ions (e.g. Fe²⁺), H₂O₂ may generate highly reactive hydroxyl radical (OH*) via Fenton chemistry, which is considered to be responsible for the majority of mtDNA damage. O₂ may additionally react with nitric oxide (NO) to generate NO-derived nitrogen oxides (ONOO⁻), which causes lipid peroxidation (22,23). 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) is a product of the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids and one of the major reactive aldehydes. It reacts with nucleophilic sites of proteins and nucleic acid (24). Both H₂O₂ and 4-HNE are commonly used to experimentally induce oxidative stress in cell cultures. Another chemical oxidant applied is tbutylhydroperoxide (t-BH). It is relatively stable and readily permeates the cell membrane. Once inside the cell, it induces oxidative stress by 2-electron oxidation and by metal ion and metalloprotein-catalyzed radical processes (25.26). Other sources of oxidative stress injuries are UVlight, hypoxia and lipofuscin (17,27,28). One of the main environmental factors inducing oxidative stress that is strongly connected to AMD development is smoking (13,29). Cigarette smoke contains a vast amount of radicals including ROS, NO, nitrogen dioxide, peroxynitrite and peroxynitrate (30,31) and can directly induce oxidative damage in murine RPE (32). Recently, mononuclear phagocytes have been shown to induce oxidative changes in RPE cells that were accompanied by apoptosis (33).

3.2. Signaling of life and death

3.2.1. Protective signaling

The RPE is adjusted to exist in an environment of high oxygen tension and has a variety of mechanisms to protect itself from oxidative stress induced injuries (19). Most important factors of protective signaling in the RPE are phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) and nuclear factor erythroid-2 related factor 2 (Nrf2); additional factors discussed below are vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A, VEGF) and neuroprotectin D1 (NPD1). The signal transduction pathways of these factors overlap and interact, which is depicted in an integrative schematic of protective pathways of the RPE in figure 1.

3.2.1.1. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase

The PI3K/Akt pathway plays a major role in cell survival signaling and is implicated in many biological responses to extracellular signals. It mediates cell survival by phosphorylating and thereby inactivating several proapoptotic factors. PI3K is a heterodimer consisting of a 110 kDa subunit and a regulatory an 85 kDa subunit. When catalyses activated, PI3K the conversion of phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate to phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PtInP₃), phosphorylating the phosphatidylinositol at the D3 position



Figure 1. An integrated summary of protective pathways is given. Only interactions that have explicitly been shown for the RPE are considered. Akt is activated by oxidative stress via the activation of PI3K, by VEGF and NPD1. Akt activates Nrf2 and inactivates the transcription factors FoxO1 and FoxO4. Additionally, GSK-3ß is inhibited, preventing its activation of Bax and its inactivation of Nrf2 and HSF-1. p7086K is activated by Akt and NPD1. NPD1 also upregulates Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL, which in turn inhibit Bax.

of the inositol ring. PtInP3 recruits pleckstrin homology domain-containing proteins to the plasma membrane, as the protein kinase Akt, also called protein kinase B, which is in turn phosphorylated and activated (34). Akt phosphorylates a wide variety of proteins on serine and threonine residues. Most downstream targets of Akt become inactivated by the phosphorylation event. These targets include, among others, glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3ß, Bad, caspase 9, the transcription factors forkhead and nuclear factor '*kappa*light-chain-enhancer' of activated *B*-cells (NFkB), mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and Raf protein kinase (35). Akt is active in the cytoplasm as well as in the nucleus.

Akt is activated in the RPE by oxidative stress in a dose dependent manner and a transient activation is important for RPE cell survival, as the inhibition of Akt enhances H_2O_2 mediated cell death. Phosphorylation of the proapoptotic molecules FoxO1 (forkhead in rhadomysarcoma), GSK3B and FoxO4 (acute lymphocyte

leukemia-1 fused gene from chromosome X) has been observed in the RPE (36). FoxO1 and FoxO4 are transcription factors that belong to subfamily forkhead box class O (FoxO) of the forkhead transcription factor family. Member of these families have been shown to be involved in a variety of oxidative stress responses (37). FoxO1 is a proapoptotic transcription factor, which is released from the DNA when phosphorylated. Free FoxO1 forms a complex with 14-3-3 protein, is shuttled out of the nucleus and retained in the cytoplasm, functionally inactivated (38,39). Phosphorylation of FoxO4 also translocates FoxO4 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, inactivating the factor (40). Another member of the FoxO family, FoxO3, is involved in the regulation of complement factor H (CFH) in response to oxidative stress in the RPE and will be discussed below (41). GSK3ß is constitutively active in unstimulated cells and phosphorylates, thereby down-regulates, the activity of transcription factors such as activator protein (AP) 1, CREB and c-Myk. It phosphorylates proteins to promote their degeneration, is involved in the translocation of Bax

to the mitochondria and might impair the expression of heat shock proteins by inhibiting heat shock factor protein (HSF-)1 activation. GSK3 β is also involved in the regulation of Nrf2 (discussed below). Phosphorylation of GSK3 β by Akt turns off its catalytic activity, resulting in the activation of otherwise repressed pathways (34,42,43) (Figure 1).

Akt is also the main activator for mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a serine/threonine kinase, which in turn is required for the activation of p70 S6 kinase (p70S6K) and the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein1 (4E-BP1), which is then released from the translation initiation factor eIF4E, increasing protein synthesis at the ribosome (44-46). Activation of mTOR is strongly associated with cell growth and proliferation. In the RPE, phosphorylation of mTOR and p70S6K is time-and dose-dependently initiated after oxidative stress, and the inhibition of this phosphorylation increases H_2O_2 -induced apoptosis (47). The activation of mTOR in the RPE is involved in cell protection, not cell proliferation.

3.2.1.2. Nrf2

Nrf2 is a basic leucine zipper transcription factor that keeps up cellular redox homeostasis and mediates protection of cells from oxidative stress and electrophilic agents. It controls the expression and induction of a wide variety of defensive genes encoding antioxidant proteins and detoxifying enzymes, and is regarded as the most important mechanism to protect cells against acute oxidative damage. Nrf2 is mainly controlled by Kelch-like ECH-associated protein (Keap) 1. It is thought to be retained in the cytoplasm by Keap1 in an Nrf2/Cul3/Rbx1 complex, which facilitates the ubiquitylation and degradation of Nrf2 through the 26S proteasome. When the cell is exposed to oxidative stress, modifications of reactive cysteine in Keap1 lead to a physical release of Nrf2, which consequently translocates to the nucleus (48). This model has been challenged by Nguyen et al., who consider Nrf2 to be primarily located in the nucleus (49). The interaction between Nrf2 and Keap1 is believed to represent a transient event taking place in the nucleus, where Nrf2 is targeted for ubiquitylation or shuttled out of the nucleus (50,51). In the nucleus, Nrf2 forms heterodimers with other basic leucine zipper genes including Jun (c-Jun, Jun-D, Jun-B) and small Maf proteins (48). As a heterodimer, Nrf2 binds to an enhancer sequence designated as the antioxidant response element (ARE) which controls the expression of phase 2 detoxifying enzymes and antioxidant proteins in response to a wide variety of stimuli, e.g. xenobiotics, heavy metals or UV light. Many genes that convey RPE resistance to oxidative stress are controlled by Nrf2, such as catalase, superoxide dismutase, heme oxygenase-1 or glutathione generating enzymes (52). Other pathways have been described to be involved in the regulation of Nrf2 transcription, e.g. PI3K (see above), or MAKP pathways (see below).

In the RPE, Nrf2 has been shown to be induced by a variety of stressors, such as cigarette smoke extract, hydroquinone, 4-HNE or acrolein (53-56). The PI3K pathway is important for Nrf2 protection against oxidative

stress in the RPE (55). PI3K/Akt activity is required for Nrf2 activation and Nrf2-dependent GSH synthesis, while active Akt is sufficient to enhance Nrf2 activation. Furthermore, translocation of Nrf2 into the nucleus was prevented by PI3K inhibitors (55). This involvement of PI3K is not universal, as in cell types other then RPE, Nrf2 activity induced by the same agent (4-HNE) has been shown to be independent from the PI3K pathway (57). Another connection to the PI3K pathway is the regulation of Nrf2 activity by GSK3B, which in turn is deactivated by PI3K. GSK3ß phosphorylates Fyn, which then translocates to the nucleus, where it binds to Nrf2. Bound Nrf2 is transported out of the nucleus, binds to Keap1 and is degraded (58). GSK3B has also been shown to directly phosphorvlate Nrf2, which excludes Nrf2 from the nucleus (59) (Figure 1).

In RPE cells, the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) ERK1/2 and p38 were shown to be important for the activation of Nrf2, but not for basal activity and our own data indicates a species specific involvement of ERK1/2 in Nrf2 activation (Koinzer, unpublished data) (54). Activation of MAPK does not facilitate the release of Nrf2 from Keap, but is required for the translocation to the nucleus (60). While Nrf2 has MAPK phosphorylation sites, direct phosphorylation is not considered to be an important factor for Nrf2 activation. Moderate effects on activation and translocation could be seen after direct phosphorylation, but the effect of MAPK is considered to be indirectly mediated by additional proteins (61).

3.2.1.3. VEGF

VEGF is the major angiogenic factor in embryonic development, a major factor in the pathology of exudative AMD and involved in a variety of other retinal disease, such as diabetic retinopathy or retinopathy of prematurity (62). Physiologically, it has important functions for the maintenance of the choroid and the retina (63,64). It is secreted by the RPE and has recently been described to be an autocrine survival factor for RPE cells following oxidative stress stimulation (65). In order to exert its function, VEGF has to bind to its receptors, VEGF receptor 1 (VEGFR-1) or VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR-2), of which VEGFR-2 is considered to be the main receptor mediating functional signaling. VEGFR-2 is a tyrosine receptor kinase which phosphorylates itself upon activation and activates, among others, the PI3K/Akt (described above) and MAPK (described below) pathway. Also involved in VEGF binding are the co-receptors neuropilin 1 and 2 (62).

VEGF is upregulated after oxidative stress in the RPE, secretion being more elevated at the apical side than the basolateral side, indicating a protective role for the neuroretina under oxidative stress (65-67). A specific upregulation of VEGF₁₈₉ has been reported, which is generally not expressed in the adult RPE (68,69). The underlying mechanisms of the upregulation in the RPE are not known in detail but have been shown to be dependent on ERK1/2 activation, while both pathological and physiological VEGF expression are partly regulated by p38 (67). Oxidative stress also induces the upregulation of VEGF-R1 and VEGF-R2 and the phosphorylation of

VEGF-R2 (70). VEGF autocrine signaling protects RPE cells via VEGFR-2 and the PI3K/Akt pathway (described above), as inhibition of VEGF-R2 phosphorylation abrogates Akt phosphorylation and elevates cell death (65) (Figure 1). VEGF has been shown to induce its own expression in the RPE as well as in endothelial cells (71,72), so induction of (protective) VEGF by oxidative stress might result in a positive feedback loop, possibly linking oxidative stress-induced protective signaling to AMD progression.

3.2.1.4. Neuroprotectin D1

NPD1 is a dihydroxy-containing derivate of docosahexaenoic acid, an omega 3 fatty acid highly concentrated in photoreceptors, brain and retinal synapses (73). It generally exerts antiapoptotic and antiinflammatory effects. RPE cells synthesize NPD1 in culture. NPD1 synthesis is enhanced by oxidative stress stimulation, which protects against the both single-dose and repetitive oxidative stress (74,75). The production of NPD1 is dependent on 15-lipoxygenase-1 (75). NPD1 induces an elevated phosphorylation of Akt, mTOR and p70S6K during oxidative stress, activating both the PI3K/Akt and mTOR/p70S6K protective pathways (see above) (47). Additionally, NPD1 prevents RPE apoptosis by upregulating Bcl-2 and attenuating the expression of proapoptotic Bax and Bad (Figure 1). It enhances the heterodimerization of Bax with Bcl-xL, thereby inhibiting the formation of Bax homodimers, which in turn prevents the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria (discussed in detail below). Additionally, NPD1 diminishes caspase 3 activation (73,74,76). NPD1 enhances the dephosphorylization of Bcl-xL by the protein phosphatase 2A, thereby downregulating oxidative stress induced phosphorylation of Bcl-xL and rescuing its antiapoptotic function (76).

3.2.2. Cell death pathways

Retinal pigment epithelial cells are to a high resistant to oxidative stress (19). High degree concentrations of or prolonged stimulation with oxidative stress, however, induce cell death. In the following chapters, degenerative signaling in the RPE after oxidative stress is discussed. A main executioner of cell death in the RPE is the mitochondrial pathway. Both pro- and antiapoptotic players of this pathway, including the heat shock proteins (Hsp), are presented. Additionally, p53, the oxidative stress sensor 66kDa proto-oncogene Src homologous-collagen homologue protein (p66Shc) and bone morphogenic protein 4 (BMP4), which all can also induce a senescent phenotype, as well as lipid oxidation product 4-HNE, are discussed. An integrated picture of the apoptotic pathways of the RPE is given in figure 2.

3.2.2.1. Mitochondrial pathway

In addition to their role as the main source of energy of the cell, mitochondria are important mediators of cells death. The main event in mitochondrial signaling and control of apoptosis is the permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane and the release of proapoptotic proteins into the cytosol, such as cytochrome c, AIF or HtrA2/Omi, which can mediate caspasedependent and caspase-independent cell death pathways. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization is a complex process, which can be induced by mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) pore-dependent and Bcl-2 family-dependent mechanisms (77).

3.2.2.1.2. Mitochondrial Permeability Transition

Mitochondrial permeability transition is caused by opening of non-specific pores in the mitochondrial inner membrane, allowing ions and small molecules to pass freely across the inner membrane. This leads to a loss of mitochondrial membrane potential and to an uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation, increased generation of ROS and depletion of ATP. It also leads to osmotic swelling and eventually to the rupture of the outer membrane, releasing molecules of the intermembrane proteins into the cytosol, such as cytochrome c, apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), or high temperature requirement protein 2 (HtrA2/Omi), which will be discussed in detail below (78,79). In t-BHtreated RPE cells, an early decrease of mitochondrial membrane potential is observed, followed by caspase activation and DNA fragmentation (80).

3.2.2.1.3. Bcl-2 family

The Bcl-2 family includes a variety of pro- and antiapoptotic proteins, which all share Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains. They are divided in three groups: antiapoptotic molecules that contain BH domains 1-4 such as Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1; proapoptotic molecules that contain BH domains 1-3, such as Bax and Bak, and a third class of proapoptotic molecules that only contain BH domain 3, such as Bad, Bik, Bim, Noxa and Puma, of which some are under transcription regulation of p53 (discussed below) or FoxO3 (81-83). Bcl-xL is a major antiapoptotic Bcl-2 protein which protects against apoptotic and necrotic cell death (84). It generally promotes cell survival by regulating electric and osmotic homeostasis of mitochondria and forms small calcium-dependent, cation selective ion channels that protect mitochondria from osmotic damage (85.86). Additionally, Bcl-xL prevents the release of cytochrome c by binding and inactivating proapoptotic family members, such as Bax or BH3-only molecules (87,88). Phosphorylation of Bcl-xL at Ser62 changes it to a proapoptotic protein (76) (Figure 2). In the RPE, Bcl-xL is highly expressed and required for RPE cell survival, especially under oxidative stress (89,90). Bcl-xL phosphorylation is enhanced in RPE cells after H₂O₂ induced oxidative stress which is intensified by PP2A inhibitors. NPD1 downregulates oxidative-stress induced phosphorylation by increasing PP2A activity and enhances the heterodimerization of Bcl-xL with Bax in the RPE (76). Bcl-2 sequesters BH3-only proteins and neutralizes activated Bax/Bak in the mitochondrial membranes (88). Additionally, Bcl-2 can regulate the Ca²⁺ homeostasis in the endoplasmatic reticulum. Bcl-2 expression is reduced in RPE cells treated with $H_2O_2(91)$.

Bax is an important factor in mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization. Bax resides in the cytosol of healthy cells (92,83). Apoptotic insults result in Bax activation and its translocation to the mitochondria where it assembles into high-molecular weight complexes (93,94).



Figure 2. An integrated summary of cell death inducing pathways is given. Only interactions that have explicitly been shown for the RPE are considered. The cellular death pathway following oxidative stress stimulus follows the classical pattern of the mitochondrial death pathway. Oxidative stress induces a release of proapoptotic factors such as HtrA2/Omi, AIF and cytochrome c. Cytochrome c release leads via the apoptosome to a caspase dependent DNA degradation and cell death, while AIF is involved in caspase independent DNA degradation and cell death. Bax is regulated by MAPK, which are activated via Rac1 and BMP4. Bcl-xL is inactivated via phosphorylation and cannot exert its antiapoptotic function. The transcription factor p53 is activated via MAPK pathways and by 4-HNE. 4-HNE alters Hsp70, which in turn can no longer inhibit the formation of the apoptosome.

Bax heterodimerizes with Bcl-2 (95), interacts with BH3only proteins, is inserted in the outer membrane and undergoes a conformational change. The exact mechanism as to how Bax permeabilizes the outer membrane is under debate (96,97).

In RPE cells, H_2O_2 treated cells display a enhanced transcription of Bax which is accompanied by an increase of caspase 9 and 3 (discussed below) and oxidative stress induces Bax translocation to the mitochondria, which is dependent on the activation of Rac1, c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) and p38 (discussed below) and induces the release of AIF from the mitochondria (discussed below) (98,99). Also, UV light induces Bcl-2 and Bax expression in RPE cells (100) (Figure 2).

3.2.2.1.4. Released factors and downstream pathways

For the induction of caspase mediated cell death, cytochrome c is a most important factor. When in the cytosol, cytochrome c binds to the apoptosis activating factor (Apaf-1) which recruits and thereby activates procaspase-9 in a complex, called apoptosome, which is tightly regulated by heat shock proteins (hsp70, hsp90, discussed below) (101,102). Activated caspase 9 cleaves and thereby activates the "executioner" caspase 3 (101,103). Release of cytochrome c, activation of caspase 9 and activation of caspase 3 after oxidative stress in the RPE have been shown in studies using t-BH and hydrogen peroxide (80,91).

Caspase mediated cell death is supported by the released protein HtrA2/Omi, a serine protease, which promotes caspase activation by neutralizing the endogenous inhibitor of caspases (IAP) (104). HtrA2/Omi is localized at the mitochondria intermembrane space where it remains until it translocates to the cytosol after apoptotic stimuli (105). Additional to its caspase promoting activity, it can mediate caspase-independent death through its own protease activity, e.g. by cleaving and degrading X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) (106).

H₂O₂-induced oxidative damage in the RPE

results in an HtrA2/Omi translocation from the mitochondria to the cytosol, leading to RPE cell apoptosis via a caspase-mediated pathway (107).

Additional to caspase-executed cell death, mitochondria can mediate caspase-independent cell death as well, which nevertheless may display apoptotic features (78). Apoptosis inducing factor (AIF), in healthy cells important for the maintenance of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, can mediate caspase-independent cell death when translocated to the nucleus where it induces DNA fragmentation (108). The release of AIF from the mitochondria has been shown after oxidative insults in the RPE (99).

3.2.2.2. p53

A factor closely connected to mitochondria mediated cell death is p53. The p53 pathway is composed of a network of genes responding to intrinsic and extrinsic stress signal which lead to cell cycle arrest, cell senescence or cellular apoptosis. In response to such a stress signal, p53 is activated by post-translational modification and can induce cell death via transcriptional and transcriptionindependent functions, while these two modes of apoptosis induction cooperate and complement each other (109). A negative regulator of p53 is mouse double minute 2 (MDM2), an ubiquitin ligase that blocks p53's transcriptional activity and mediates its degradation (110). As a transcription factor, p53 induces several proapoptotic proteins such as Bax, Puma, Noxa and Bid and represses the transcription of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL. It also effects the expression of numerous other factors (110). For the transcription-independent pathways, p53 is accumulated in the cytosol and the mitochondria, where it interacts with members of the Bcl-2 family. p53 activates Bak, Bax and Bad while inhibiting the antiapoptotic effect of Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (109). The forkhead transcription factor FoxO3 promotes cytosolic accumulation of p53 and apoptosis (111) (Figure 2). A downstream factor of p53 is the adaptor protein p66Shc (112) (discussed below). In the RPE, hydrogen peroxide induces an elevation of p53, and 4-HNE increases the level and phosphorylation of p53, induces its accumulation in the nucleus and causes the degradation of MDM2 (91,113). Hypoxia as well as blue light exposure of A2E-laden RPE also induce an elevation of p53 (114,115).

3.2.2.3. p66Shc

p66Shc is an adaptor protein (116), which interacts with other proteins mediating cell signaling, but lacking genuine enzyme activity. p66Shc mediates tyrosine kinase signaling, where it serves as a negative regulator, inhibiting Ras/MAPK pathways (117). It was recently identified as an intracellular oxidative stress sensor which plays a prominent role in oxidative stress induced apoptosis and in the life span of animals (118). Its apoptotic properties are dependent on the JNK/ERK dependent phosphorylation of Ser36 which is induced by oxidative stress (119) (Figure 2). p66Shc increases intracellular ROS, probably by inner membrane oxidation of cytochrome c (120). Additionally, it acts as a downstream effector of p53, which in turn increases the stability of p66Shc (112).

A knock down of p66Shc in the RPE reduces

intracellular ROS and increases the expression of several antioxidant enzymes. RPE cells lacking p66Shc display an increased NFkB activity and are less susceptive to oxidative stress induced apoptosis (121). These results indicate an important function of p66Shc in oxidative stress induced cell death in the RPE.

3.2.2.4. Bone morphogenetic protein 4

BMP4 is an important regulator of differentiation, senescence and apoptosis in many different cells and tissues, including the eye (122). BMP4 is highly expressed in RPE and Bruch's membrane of atrophic AMD and mediates oxidative stress induced senescence in vitro via Smad and p38 pathways. In contrast, in neovascular AMD lesions. BMP4 expression in RPE is low. It might be involved in the molecular switch determining which phenotype pathway is taken in the progression of AMD (123). Chronic exposure to sublethal doses of oxidative stress can increase the BMP4 expression in the RPE and induce a senescence phenotype (124). BMP4 mediates RPE senescence via the activation of Smad and p38 pathways to activate p53 and increase the expression of $p21^{\text{WAF1/cip1}}$, and to decrease phospho-Rp. The BMP4 mediated RPE senescence can be inhibited by a BMP4 antagonist and a phospho-p38 inhibitor. The interaction of p53 with the BMP-Smad pathway is not elucidated yet, but the possibility of post-translational modifications of p53 by Smad1/5 which activate p53 dependent transcription has been discussed (123).

3.2.2.5. Heat shock proteins

Heat shock proteins are molecular chaperones which assist in the folding of polypeptides and assist misfolded proteins to regain their native state. Furthermore, they play a critical role in modulating apoptotic pathways (102) and play important roles in saving damaged cells, which might also be of clinical and pharmacological importance (125).

Heat shock proteins are classified into distinct families, of which Hsp90, Hsp70 and small heat shock proteins will be discussed. Hsp90 can prevent the formation of the apoptosome complex by inhibiting the oligomerization of Apaf-1 (126). It maintains the activity of Akt by inhibiting its dephosphorylation (127). The Akt/Hsp90 complex also inactivates JNK-mediated cell death pathway (discussed below) by inactivating ASK-1, one of the activators of JNK (128). Additionally, Hsp90 is involved in the activation of NFkB, as Hsp90 can cause the dissociation of NFkB from its inhibitor IkappaB (129). Hsp90 is upregulated in the RPE of AMD patients and was shown to be involved in the protection against 4-HNE induced cell death in the RPE, as its inhibition with Geldanamycin increases 4-HNE induced cell death (6,130).

Hsp70 inhibits the formation of a functional apoptosome by direct interaction with Apaf-1, protects against forced expression of caspase 3 and prevents the translocation of Bax from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria (131-133). Also, it binds to AIF, restricting its translocation to the mitochondria and prevents the

activation of JNK (134,135). In the RPE, increased resistance to chronic oxidative stress is correlated to a higher expression of Hsp70 and 4-HNE modifies Hsp70, impairing its function (54,136) (Figure 2).

Hsp27 belongs to the family of small heat shock proteins. Hsp27 can maintain mitochondrial stability and redox homeostasis in cells and interacts with the apoptotic signaling pathways at many steps (137). It prevents the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria, prevents the assembly of the apoptosome by sequestering cytochrome c away from Apaf-1 and mediates the inhibition of procaspase-3 (138-140). Hsp27 is also involved in the stabilization of Akt (141). High levels of Hsp27 are expressed in the RPE of the rat retina and in Arpe19 cells. Oxidative injury activates the translational and transcriptional activation of Hsp27 (142). Its activity is regulated by phosphorylation, which seems to be important for its antiapoptotic properties (143). Phosphorylated Hsp27 is upregulated in the RPE of AMD patients (136,144). Non-lethal oxidative injury induced with HQ leads to an mRNA upregulation, dimer formation and Hsp27 phosphorylation in the RPE in vitro and in vivo, which is mediated by p38 and ERK1/2 (144). AlphaB-cystallin is closely related to Hsp27 and interferes with the processing of the precursor of caspase-3 (145,146). Additionally, it can inhibit apoptosis through sequestration of Bax and Bcl-xS in the cytoplasm (147). AlphaB-crystallin is expressed in the RPE and can protect against hydrogen peroxide induced caspase 3 activation (148).

Assessing the role of Hsp in RPE protection, one has to consider that the Hsp-inhibitor quercitin protects RPE cells from oxidative damage (149). However, this effect is attributable to the antioxidative rather than to the Hsp-inhibiting properties of quercitin.

3.2.2.6. 4-HNE

Under conditions of oxidative stress, light exposure, hyperglycemia, smoking or vitamin E deficiency, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) react with free radicals to form lipid peroxidation products (53,150-152). 4hydroxynonenal is produced from oxidation of n-6 PUFA and is one of the major reactive aldehydes. It is considered an important second messenger for cell cycle arrest, differentiation and apoptosis and reacts with nucleophilic sites in proteins and nucleic acids (153-155). In astrocytes, 4-HNE activates Nrf2, NFkB and cFos (156). In RPE cells, however, an activation of NFkB or AP-1 is not seen (130). Additionally, it modifies proteins, especially Hsp70, which is also shown for RPE cells, or the Nrf2 inhibiting protein Keap1 (54,154,157). It is mainly detoxified by gluthatione-S-transferases (158). In the RPE, 4-HNE has been shown to activate Nrf2 and to increase GSH synthesis (54). Inhibition of PI3K enhances oxidative protein modification by 4-HNE (54). It directly induces p53-mediated apoptosis in the RPE (113) (Figure 2). 4-HNE induced cell death, however, differs from hydrogen peroxide induced cell death. In hydrogen peroxide induced cell death, we see an activation of NFkB and AP-1, which is not seen in 4-HNE induced cell death (18,130).

3.2.3. MAPK

A common mechanism of signal transduction after a plethora of signals is the sequential activation of protein kinase within the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. MAPK are a family of serine/threonine kinases which are strongly involved in oxidative stress mediated signaling and of which JNK, p38 and ERK1/2 are the best characterized. Each of these kinases mediates a vast variety of different reaction, both adaptive and apoptotic, and these kinases are important factors in integrating various external signals in order to coordinate the appropriate response of the cell. Generally, all MAPK are activated by MAPK kinases (MAP2K), which in turn are activated by a family of MAP3K (159). The cascade is usually started either by a small GTP-binding or an adaptor protein.

3.2.3.1. p38

The activation of p38 influences cellular processes such as inflammation, cell growth, survival and apoptosis by interacting with signaling pathways and regulating gene expression. The MAPK p38 is activated by MKK3 and MKK6, which in turn are phosphorylated by MLK3. MLK3 is activated by small G-proteins Rac1 and cdc42 (160).

In the RPE, data on p38 is not consistent. It is activated after H₂O₂ and t-BH, while in other studies, no activation of p38 after t-BH was found (99, 161-164). Also, the effect of p38 on RPE cell survival is controversial. In some studies, p38 displayed proapoptotic properties, other studies found protective effects of p38 activation, with p38 (and JNK) involved in GSH upregulation (99,161-163). Our own laboratory found a proapoptotic effect of p38 after H₂O₂ stimulation but not after t-BH stimulation (Koinzer, unpublished), so the effect of p38 might strongly depend on the reactive oxygen species, duration and concentration of stimulation, species and density of cell culture used (162). A simple dependency on the oxidative stimulus cannot be seen. MAPK p38 induces the transcription and activation of different members of AP-1 transcription factors (165,166). Depending on concentration and duration of the oxidative stimulus, different factors are activated and may mediate different cellular responses (discussed in more detail below) (167). Additionally, p38 is involved in the upregulation of IL-8 and IL-6 after oxidative stress and of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-3 (168,169) (discussed below).

3.2.3.2. JNK

The c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK) is also referred to as the stress activated protein kinase (SAPK). JNK is activated by dual specificity kinases MKK4 and MKK7 which phosphorylate JNK on critical threonine and tyrosine residues in order to activate it (170). MKKs can be activated by a number of pathways, e.g. MEKK1-4, MLK and ASK1, of which MEKK4 is specific for JNK and of which MEKK1 and ASK1 can be directly activated by oxidative stress (159,171-174). Upstream, cdc42 or Ras/Rac can induce the activation of the JNK pathway (175). JNK has a wide variety of targets. One important function of JNK is the activation of AP-1 transcription factors (176) (see below). The activation pathway of JNK in the RPE has hardly been investigated so far, but an involvement of the Rac1 in oxidative stress JNK activation has been shown (99). Additionally to oxidative stress, the JNK pathway can be activated by a wide variety of stressors, e.g. chemotherapeutic drugs, UV light, irritation or heavy metals (159). While activation of JNK is generally proapoptotic, the JNK pathway exhibits antiapoptotic features in some cell types and can phosphorylate and activate Nrf2 (177,178). The duration of JNK activation might be a factor in determining the induction of pro- or antiapoptotic pathways (179), but also the cellular localization or isoform may play a part in that decision (180-182). In the RPE, the involvement of the JNK pathway in oxidative stress response is not fully elucidated and studies display conflicting results. While JNK is activated after stimulation with hydrogen peroxide, the role of JNK activation has been described as proapoptotic or, at least in combination with 5-deoxy-Delta (12,14)-prostaglandin J82, as protective, where it is involved in GSH upregulation (99,161,162). After stimulation with t-BH, on the other hand, our lab did not find any proapoptotic properties of JNK (Koinzer, unpublished). In blue light induced cell death, JNK exhibited a protective effect, while UV-light and 4-HNE induced prolonged JNK activation was proapoptotic (113,115,183). Further research is needed to better elucidate the involvement of different JNK isoforms and their cellular localization in oxidative stress signaling in the RPE.

3.2.3.3. ERK1/2

ERK1/2 (p42/p44) is generally considered to be involved in proliferation and differentiation, but may also participate in apoptotic responses. Most important regulators of ERK1/2 are the MAP2K MEK1 and MEK2. ERK1/2 is a ubiquitous serine/threoine kinase that phosphorylates a high number and wide variety of substrates, most of them regulatory proteins, either in the cytosol or after translocation into the nucleus. ERK1/2 is also involved in the regulation of AP-1 transcription factors (184). The specificity of ERK1/2 activation is regulated by its pathway of activation, by subcellular localization of the kinase, and also by strength and duration of the inducing signal (185). ERK1/2 is often antiapoptotic, e.g. by phosphorylation of Bad or by translocating Nrf2 to the nucleus (60,186). In the RPE, ERK1/2 is readily activated after stimulation with hydrogen peroxide and weakly after t-BH (161,162,164,187,188). Our own data suggests an ERK1/2 involvement in cell death pathways after t-BH stimulation, which displays a species dependent pattern (Koinzer, unpublished data). ERK1/2 is also phosphorylated in response to UV light, where it is probably has proapoptotic functions (189). After hydrogen peroxide stimulation, ERK1/2 does not seem to be involved in cell death but to be involved in oxidative stress induced proliferation and can be protective if induced by PEDF (161,162,187,190). Additionally, ERK1/2 seems to be involved in the activation of Nrf2 in RPE after stimulation with 4-HNE (54). ERK1/2 is involved in oxidative stress induced upregulation of VEGF after t-BH stimulation and in MMP-1 and MMP-3 secretion (67,169).

3.2.3.4. AP-1 transcription factors

AP-1 transcription factors are a family of the

basic region leucine zipper proteins Jun, Fos, Maf, Far and ATF gene subfamily, which form homo- and heterodimers in order to bind to the DNA to induce transcription. Their expression and activation are induced by many factors, including oxidative stress and can occur via a variety of pathways, especially MAPK pathways (165,184,191). These dimers bind to regulatory elements present in promoter and enhancer regions of many genes, regulating a wide range of cellular processes, including proliferation and apoptosis, depending on the cellular context (176). In the RPE, a general activation of AP-1 in response to H_2O_2 but not after 4-HNE stimulation has been shown (18,130). In response to hydrogen peroxide, FosB and c-Fos, and to a lesser extent Fra-1 and ATF3, are upregulated in a dosedependent manner, while JunB and c-Jun are induced in a threshold response. The investigated transcription factors are induced in a time-dependent manner, specific for each individual protein (167). A model of transcriptional regulation by AP-1 transcription factors is the dimer ratio control. AP-1 proteins homo- and heterodimerize with each other. Relative levels of different AP-1 dimers in the nuclear and cytosolic pool differentially modulate AP-1 gene expression at each transcription factor locus through autoregulatory mechanisms, resulting in differing cellular responses according to the presence of different dimers, allowing a highly flexible response of the cell (167). As AP-1 proteins are differentially regulated by the concentration of the stressor and differentially regulated in a time dependent manner, this model might well explain the inconsistent effects on and of MAPK activation obtained in studies using different approaches to induce oxidative stress.

3.3. Inflammatory pathways 3.3.1. Complement system

The complement system is component of the innate immune system and a number of studies have associated the complement system with the development of AMD (192). It is divided into three different pathways, classical, alternative and lectin, of which the alternative pathway is most strongly associated with AMD. Complement factor H is a negative regulator of the alternative pathway, inhibiting several steps of this pathway and promoting degradation of activated components. The polymorphism Y402H, which displays a reduced binding to C-reactive proteins and heparin and thus is less inhibitory, has been shown to display a higher risk for developing AMD (193). In the eye, the RPE is a local source of CFH (194). Oxidative stress reduces the ability of interferongamma to increase CFH expression in the RPE (41). Interferon-gamma- induced increase in CFH is mediated by transcriptional activation of Stat1 and its suppression by oxidative stress is mediated by acetylation of a member of the forkhead family, FoxO3. Acetylation of FoxO3 enhances its binding to the CFH promoter and inhibits the interaction of Stat1 with the CFH promoter (41). Additionally, the phagocytosis of oxidized photoreceptor outer fragments reduces CFH mRNA level (195).

Oxidative stress also alters the expression of regulators of complement activation, which protect cells from the complement system. In the RPE, oxidative stress

decreases the expression of DAF and CD59. This reaction is specific for the RPE and is not seen after hypoxia (196).

3.3.2. Interleukin secretion

Interleukin-6, a proinflammatory cytokine which is involved in autoimmune responses and associated with dry AMD, is expressed at low level in cultured RPE and is induced by a variety of insults, such as endotoxin or cytokines (197-199). Sublethal doses of hydrogen peroxide increase IL-6 expression in the RPE in a dose dependent manner. The upregulation of IL-6 is mediated by a nuclear translocation of NFkB, which is dependent on p38 phosphorylation (200).

Interleukin-8 (CXCL8) is a proinflammatory chemokine that has strong leukocyte chemotactic and proangiogenic properties (201). It is induced in the RPE by a variety of oxidative insults, such as phagocytosis of oxidized photoreceptor outer segments (POS), oxidized cholesterols, A2E, hydrogen peroxide and paraquart, but not by t-BH (168,202,203). The underlying pathway seems to be dependent on proteasome inhibition. A short term protease inhibition results in an NFkB dependent downregulation of IL-8 secretion, while a long-term inhibition upregulates IL-8 via a MKK3/6 activated p38 signaling (168). The phagocytosis of oxidized POS also induces the upregulation of MCP-1, a monocyte chemoattractant, which is dependent on NFkB (202).

3.4. Extra cellular matrix

The turnover of the extracellular matrix, especially Bruch's membrane, is regulated by a balanced system of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors (tissue inhibitors of metallo proteinases, TIMP). The RPE secretes several MMPs and TIMP (204). MMP-2 is the major RPE enzyme for the degradation of the Bruch's membrane components collagen I, collagen IV and laminine. Non-lethal oxidative stress increases pro-MMP-2 protein in the RPE, but downregulates MMP-2 activity (205). To be activated, pro-MMP-2 forms a complex with MMP-14 and TIMP-2. Oxidative injury decreases the expression of MMP-14 and TIMP-2 in the RPE, indicating that oxidative stress disrupts enzymatic cleavage of pro-MMP-2 (206,207). MMP-9, on the other hand, is increased after oxidative stress (208). Also, oxidative stress increases MMP-1 and MMP-3 release in a MAPK dependent manner, with MMP-1 dependent on ERK1/2 and MMP-3 dependent on ERK1/2 and p38 activity. The activation of MMPs results in a degradation of collagen 1 (166). Prolonged, but not transient, non-lethal oxidative stress also induces an increase of collagen IV (205).

4. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

RPE cells answer to oxidative stress in a complex and interacting manner. This is even further complicated by the fact that different stressors, all designated as models for oxidative stress, induce different responses (209). As for models of oxidative stress, in addition to "pure" chemical oxidative stress, such as hydrogen peroxide or t-BH, 4-HNE, UV-light and even hypoxia have been used, which all induce different pathways. And even in chemically induced oxidative stress, the reaction of the RPE to hydrogen peroxide might differ from the reactions to t-BH.

The RPE cell is rather resistant to oxidative stress and the published data indicates the Akt pathway to be a main factor in the pathway of protection. Akt is activated by oxidative stress via the activation of PI3K. Additionally, Akt is activated by VEGF and NPD1, factors that are both induced by oxidative stress and that both mediate RPE protection. Besides the initiation of protein synthesis and inhibition of proapoptotic proteins, Akt is strongly involved in Nrf2 protection, which in turn is vital for RPE protection against oxidative stress (Figure 1).

The cellular death pathway following oxidative stress stimulus seems to follow the classical pattern of the mitochondrial death pathway. Oxidative stress induces a change in mitochondrial membrane potential and a subsequent release of proapoptotic factors such as HtrA2/Omi, AIF and cytochrome c. Cytochrome c release leads to a caspase dependent DNA degradation and cell death, while AIF is involved in caspase independent cell death. Bcl-2 family members are strongly involved in the regulation of cell death, in particular Bcl-xL and Bax. Also, heat shock proteins have been shown to be involved in RPE cell death regulation (Figure 2).

The involvement of MAPK in oxidative stress signal transduction pathways is controversial and seems to be dependent on the stimulus used to inflict oxidative stress. The MAPK kinases p38 and JNK have been shown to be proapoptotic, protective or not involved at all. ERK1/2 seems to be generally activated, while the cell's reaction seems to be dependent on the activation pattern. Besides cell death, ERK1/2 is involved in oxidative-stress-induced VEGF upregulation. The conflicting results of the MAPK may be explained by their substrates of the AP-1 transcription factor family that form different heterodimers depending on length and severity of the oxidative insult. These levels of various AP-1 dimers may differentially modulate the cellular response.

Inflammatory responses can be induced by oxidative stress, as has been shown for the FoxO3 dependent downregulation of CFH and the p38 dependent secretion of IL-8 and IL-6, but more data is needed to elucidate the pathways that modulate the inflammatory response in the RPE. The investigation of oxidative stress induced modulation of the extracellular matrix and its underlying pathways is just at the beginning.

The present data indicates a strong involvement of oxidative stress induced pathways in AMD pathology. Further research is needed to elucidate the response of RPE cells to oxidative stress.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank her scientific teachers, Prof. T. Herdegen and Prof. J. Roider.

6. REFERENCES

1. Karen Gehrs, Don Anderson, Lincoln Johnson, Gregory

Hageman: Age-related macular degeneration: emerging pathogenetic and therapeutic concepts. *Ann Med* 38, 450-471 (2006)

2. Xiaoyan Ding, Mrinali Patel, Chi-Chao Chan: Molecular pathology of age-related macular degeneration. *Prog Retin Eye Res* 28, 1-18 (2009)

3. Marco Zarbin: Current concepts in the pathogenesis of age-related macular degeneration. *Arch Ophthalmol* 122, 598-614 (2004)

4. Jikui Shen, Aling Dong, Sean Hackett, Robert Bell, Richard Green, Peter Campochiaro: Oxidative damage in age-related macular degeneration. *Histol Histopathol* 22, 1301-1308 (2007)

5. John Crabb, Masaru Miyagi, Xiaorong Gu, Karen Shadrach, Karen West, Hirokazu Sakaguchi, Motohiro Kamei, Azeem Hasan, Lin Yan, Mary Rayborne, Robert Salomon, Joe Hollyfield: Drusen proteome analysis: an approach to the etiology of age-related macular degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 14682-14687 (2002)

6. Alejandra Decanini, Curtis Nordgaard, Xiao Feng, Deborah Ferrington, Timothy Olson: Changes in select redox proteins of the retinal pigment epithelium in agerelated macular degeneration. *Am J Ophthalmol* 143, 607-615 (2007)

7. Robert Frank, Rajesh Amin, James Puklin: Antioxidant enzymes in the macular retinal pigment epithelium of eyes with neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Am J Ophthalmol* 127, 694-709 (1999)

8. AREDS (Age-Related Eye Disease Study Research Group): A randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial of high-dose supplementation with vitamins C and E, beta carotene, and zinc for age-related macular degeneration and vision loss: AREDS report no. 8. *Arch Ophthalmol* 119, 1417-1436 (2001)

9. Olaf Strauss: The retinal pigment epithelium in visual function. *Physiol Rev* 85, 845-881 (2005)

10. Jiyang Cai, Kasey Nelson, Mei Wu, Paul Sternberg Jr, Dean Jones: Oxidative damage and protection of the RPE. *Prog Retin Eye Res* 19, 205-221 (2000)

11. Valerie Alder, Stephen Cringle: The effect of the retinal circulation on vitreal oxygen tension. *Curr Eye Res* 4, 121-129 (1985)

12. Hugh Taylor, Sheila West, Beatriz Munoz, Frank Rosenthal, Susan Bressler, Neil Bressler: The long-term effects of visible light on the eye. *Arch Ophthalmol* 110, 99-104 (1992)

13. Marisol Cano, Rajesh Thimmalappula, Masashi Fujihara, Norihiro Nagai, Michael Sporn, Ai Wang, Arthur Neufeld, Shyam Biswal, James Handa: Cigarette smoking,

oxidative stress, the anti-oxidant response through Nrf2 signaling, and age-related macular degeneration. *Vis Res* 50, 652-664 (2010)

14. Malgorzata Rozanowska, John Jarvis-Evans, Witold Korytowski, Mike Boulton, Janice Burke, Tadeusz Sarna: Blue light-induced reactivity of retinal age pigment. *In vitro* generation of oxygen-reactive species. *J Biol Chem* 270, 18825-18830 (1995)

15. Ayala King, Eyal Gottlieb, David Brooks, Michael Murphy, Joshua Dunaief: Mitochondria-derived oxygen species mediate blue light-induced death of retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Photochem Photobiol* 79, 470-475 (2004)

16. Malgorzata Rozanowska, Jurina Wessels, Micheal Boulton, Janice Burke, Michael Rodgers, George Truscott, Tadeusz Sarna: Blue light-induced singlet oxygen generation by retinal lipofuscin in non-polar media. *Free Radic Biol Med* 24, 1107-1112 (1998)

17. Malgorzata Rozanowska, Witold Korytowski, Bartosz Rozanowski, Christine Skumatz, Mike Boulton, Janice Burke, Tadeusz Sarna: Photoreactivity of aged human RPE melanosomes: a comparison with lipofuscin. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 43, 2088-2096 (2002)

18. David Tate, Michael Miceli, David Newsome: Phagocytosis and H_2O_2 induced catalase and metallothionein gene expression in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 36, 1271-1279 (1995)

19. David Newsome, Michael Miceli, Mark Liles, David Tate, Peter Oliver: Antioxidants in the retinal pigment epithelium. *Prog Ret Eye Res* 13, 101-123 (1994)

20. Aling Dong, Bing Xie, Jikui Shen, Tsunehiko Yoshida, Katsutoshi Yokoi, Sean Hackett, Peter Campochiaro: Oxidative stress promotes ocular neovascularization. *J Cell Physiol* 219, 544-552 (2009)

21. Joseph Bannister, William Bannister, Giuseppe Rotitio: Aspect of the structure, function, and application of superoxide dismutase. *CRC Crit Rev Biochem* 22, 111-180 (1987)

22. Moe Kyaw, Masanor Yoshizumi, Koichiro Tsuchiya, Yuki Izawa, Yasuhisa Kanematsu, Toshiaki Tamaki: Atheroprotective effects of antioxidants through inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 25, 977-985 (2004)

23. Homero Rubbo, Carlos Batthyany, Rafael Radi: Nitric oxide-oxygen radical interactions in atherosclerosis. *Biol Res* 33, 167-175 (2000)

24. Hermann Esterbauer, Jörg Schaur, Helmward Zollner: Chemistry and biochemistry of 4-hydroxynonenal, malonaldehyde and related aldehydes. *Free Radic Biol Med* 11, 81-128 (1991)

25. Gregory Moore, Sarah Jewell, Giorgio Bellomo, Sten

Orrenius: On the relationship between Ca2+ efflux and membrane damage during t-butylhydroperoxide metabolism by liver mitochondria. *FEBS Lett* 153, 289-282 (1983)

26. Mario Comporti: Glutathione depleting agents and lipid peroxidation. *Chem Phys Lipids* 45, 143-169 (1987)

27. Antje Biesemeier, Despina Kokkinou, Sylvie Julien, Peter Heiduschka, Mark Berneburg, Karl Bartz-Schmidt, Ulrich Schraermeyer: UV-A induced oxidative stress is more prominent in naturally pigmented aged human RPE cells compared to non-pigmented human RPE cells independent of zinc treatment. *J Photochem Photobiol* 90, 113-120 (2008)

28. Shigura Honda, Leonard Hjelmeland, James Handa: The use of hypoxia to induce chronic mild oxidative stress in RPE cells *in vitro*. *Mol Vis* 7, 63-70 (2000)

29. Sorcha Dhubhghaill, Mark Cahill, Matthew Campbell, Lorraine Cassidy, Marian Humphries, Peter Humphries: The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and age-related macular degeneration. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 664, 437-446 (2010)

30. Irfan Rahman, William MacNee: Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking induced lung diseases. *Free Radical Biol Med* 21, 669-681 (1996)

31. Cejay Smith, Corvin Hansch: The relative toxicity of compounds in mainstream cigarette smoke condensate. Food Chem Toxicol 2000; 38:637-646

32. Masashi Fujihara, Norihiro Nagai, Thomas Sussan, Shyam Biswal, James Handa: Chronic cigarette smoke causes oxidative damage and apoptosis to retinal pigmented epithelial cells in mice. *PloS* 3:e3119 (2008)

33. Dongli Yang, Susan Elner, Li-Ren Lin, Venkat Reddy, Howard Petty, Victor Elner: Association of superoxide anions with retinal pigment epithelial cell apoptosis induced by mononuclear phagocytes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 50, 4998-5005 (2009)

34. Lewis Cantley: The phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase pathway. *Science* 296, 1655-1657 (2002)

35. Guillermo Paez, William Sellers: PI3K/PTEN/Akt pathway. A critical mediator of oncogenic signaling. *Cancer Treat Res* 115, 145-167 (2003)

36. Ping Yang, James Peairs, Ryotaro Tano, Glenn Jaffe: Oxidant-mediated Akt activation in human RPE cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 47, 4598-4606 (2006)

37. Peter Storz: FOXO transcription factors in the responses to oxidative stress. *Antioxidant Redox Signal* epub (2010)

38. Anne Brunet, Azad Bonni, Michael Zigmond, Michael Lin, Peter Juo, Linda Hu, Michael Anderson, Karen Arden,

John Blenis, Michael Greenberg: Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell* 96, 857-868 (1999)

39. Kim Birkenkamp, Paul Coffer: Regulation of cell survival and proliferation by the FOXO (Forkhead box, class O) subfamily of Forkhead transcription factors. *Biochem Soc Trans* 31, 292-297(2003)

40. Hidenori Matsuzaki, Akira Ichino, Tadahiro Hayashi, Toshiyoshi Yamamoto, Ushio Kikkawa: Regulation of intracellular localization and transcriptional activity of FoxO4 by protein kinase B through phophorylation at the motif sites conserved among the FoxO family. *J Biochem* 138, 485-491 (2005)

41. Zhihao Wu, Thomas Lauer, Anna Sick, Sean Hackett, Peter Campochiaro: Oxidative stress modulates complement factor H expression in retinal pigment epithelial cells by acetylation of FoxO3. *J Biol Chem* 282, 22414-22425 (2007)

42. Lingling Zhang, Yingjie Zhang, Da Xing: LPLI inhibits apoptosis upstream of Bax translocation via a GSK-3beta-inactivation mechanism. *J Cell Physiol* 224, 218-228 (2010)

43. Xiaohua Li, Gautam Bijur, Richard Jope: Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta, mood stabilizers, and neuroprotection. *Bipolar Disord* 4, 137-144 (2002)

44. Jongkyeong Chung, Calvin Kuo, Gerald Crabtree, John Blenis: Rapamycin-FKBP specifically blocks growth-dependent activation of and signaling by the 70 kd S6 protein kinases. *Cell* 69, 1227-1236 (1992)

45. Jongkyeong Chung, Timothy Grammer, Katherine Lemon, Andrius Kazlauskas, John Blenis: PDGF-and insulin-dependent pp70S6k activation mediated by phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase. *Nature* 370, 71-75 (1994)

46. Diane Fingar, John Blenis: Target of rapamycin (TOR): an integrator of nutrient and growth factor signals and coordinator of cell growth and cell cycle progression. *Oncogene* 23, 3151-3171 (2004)

47. Zahra Faghiri, Nicolas Bazan: PI3K/Akt and mTOR/p706K pathways mediate neuroprotectin D1-induced retinal pigment epithelial cell surviving during oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. *Exp Eye Res* 90, 718-725 (2010)

48. James Kaspar, Suryakant Niture, Anil Jaiswal: Nrf2:INrf2 (Keap1) signaling in oxidative stress. *Free Radical Biol Med* 47, 1304-1309 (2009)

49. Truyen Nguyen, Philip Sherratt, Paul Nioi, Chung Yang, Cecil Pickett: Nrf2 controls constitutive and inducible expression of ARE-driven genes through a dynamic pathway involving nucleocytoplasmic shuttling by Keap1. *J Biol Chem* 280, 32485-32492 (2005)

50. Truyen Nguyen, Paul Nioi, Cecil Pickett: The Nrf2antioxidant response element signaling pathway and its activation by oxidative stress. *J Biol Chem* 284, 13291-13295 (2009)

51. Zheng Sun, Shirley Zhang, Jefferson Chan, Donna Zhang: Keap1 controls postinduction repression of Nrf2mediated antioxidant response by escorting nuclear export or Nrf2. *Mol Cell Biol* 27, 6334-6349 (2007)

52. Akira Kobayashi, Tsutomu Ohta, Masayuki Yamamoto: Unique function of the Nrf2-Keap1 pathway in the inducible expression of antioxidant and detoxifying enzymes. *Methods Enzymol* 378, 273-286 (2004)

53. Kurt Bertram, Carolyn Baglole, Richard Phipps, Richard Libby: Molecular regulation of cigarette smoke induced oxidative stress in human retinal pigment epithelial cells: implications for age-related macular degeneration. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 297, C1200-C1210 (2009)

54. Jianbin Chen, Ling Wang, Yan Chen, Paul Sternberg, Jiyang Cai: Phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase pathway and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal-induced oxidative injury in the RPE. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 50, 936-942 (2009)

55. Ling Wang, Yan Chen, Paul Sternberg, Jiyang Cai: Essential roles of the PI3 Kinase/Akt pathway in regulating Nrf2 dependent antioxidant functions in the RPE. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 49, 1671-1678 (2008)

56. Lihong Jia, Zhongbo Liu, Lijuan Sun, Sheldon Miller, Bruce Ames, Carl Cotman, Jiankang Liu: Acrolein, a toxicant in cigarette smoke, causes oxidative damage and mitochondrial dysfunction in RPE cells: protection by (R)alpha-lipoic acid. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 48, 339-348 (2007)

57. Hongqiao Zhang, Honglei Liu, Karen Iles, Rui-Ming Liu, Edward Postlethwait, Yannick Laperche, Henry Forman: 4-Hydroxynonenal induces rat γ-glutamyl transpeptidase through mitogen-activated protein kinasemediated electrophile response element/nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 signaling. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 34, 174-181 (2006)

58. Abihinav Jain, Anil Jaiswal: Phosphorylation of tyrosine 568 controls nuclear export of Nrf2. *J Biol Chem* 281, 12132-12142 (2006)

59. Maria Salazar, Ana Rojo, Diego Velasco, Rosa de Sagarra, Antonio Cuadrado: Glycogen synthase kinase-3ß inhibits the xenobiotic and antioxidant cell response by direct phosphorylation and nuclear exclusion of the transcription factor Nrf2. *J Biol Chem* 281, 14841-14851 (2006)

60. Laurie Zipper, Timothy Mulcahy: Erk activation is required for Nrf2 nuclear localization during pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate induction of glutamate cystein ligase modulatory gene expression in HepG2 cells. *Toxicol Sci* 73, 124-134 (2003)

61. Zheng Sun, Zheping Huang, Donna Zhang: Phosphorylation of Nrf2 at multiple sites by MAP kinases has a limited contribution in modulating the Nrf2dependent antioxidant response. *PloS One* 4, e6588 (2009)

62. Antonella Witmer, Gijs Vrensen, Cornelis Van Noorden, Reinier Schlingemann: Vascular endothelial growth factors and angiogenesis in eye disease. *Prog Retin Eye Res* 22, 1-29 (2003)

63. Magali Saint-Geniez, Arindel Maharaj, Tony Walshe, Budd Tucker, Eiichi Sekiyama, Tomoki Kurihara, Diane Darland, Michael Young, Patricia D'Amore: Endogenous VEGF is required for visual function: evidence for a survival role on müller cells and photoreceptors. *PloS One* 3, e3554 (2008)

64. Magali Saint-Geniez, Tomoki Kurihara, Eiichi Sekiyama, Angel Maldonado, Patricia D'Amore: An essential role for RPE-derived soluble VEGF in the maintenance of the choriocapillaris. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 106, 18751-18756 (2009)

65. Suk Byeon, Sung Lee, Soo Choi, Hyung Lee, Joon Lee, Young Chu, Oh Kwon: Vascular endothelial growth factor as an autocrine survival factor for retinal pigment epithelial cells under oxidative stress via the VEGF-R2/PI3K/Akt. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 51, 1190-1197 (2010)

66. Ram Kannan, Ning Zhang, Parameswaran Sreekumar, Christine Spee, Anthony Rodriguez, Ernesto Barron, David Hinton: Stimulation of apical and basolateral vascular endothelial growth factor-A and vascular endothelial growth factor-C secretion by oxidative stress in polarized retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Mol Vis* 12, 1649-1659 (2006)

67. Alexa Klettner, Johann Roider: Constitutive and oxidative-stress-induced expression of VEGF in the RPE are differently regulated by different Mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol* 247, 1487-1492 (2009)

68. Haibo Wang, Pete Geisen, Erika Wittchen, Bradley King, Keith Burridge, Patricia D'Amore, Mary Hartnett: The role of RPE cell-associated VEGF189 in choroidal endothelial cell transmigration in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* epub (2010)

69. Magali Saint-Geniez, Angel Maldonado, Patricia D'Amore: VEGF expression and receptor activation in the choroid during development and in the adult. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 47, 3135-3142 (2006)

70. Parameswaran Sreekumar, Ram Kannan, Aruni de Silva, Richard Burton, Stephen Ryan, David Hinton: Thiol regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor-A and its receptors in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 346, 1200-1206 (2006)

71. Alexa Klettner, Johann Roider: Comparison of

bevacizumab, ranibizumab, and pegaptanib *in vitro*: efficiency and possible additional pathways. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 49, 4523-4527 (2008)

72. Juan Deudero, Carlos Caramelo, Maria Castellanos, Fernando Neria, Ruth Fernandez-Sanchez, Olalla Calabia, Silvia Penate, Francisco Gonzalez-Pacheco: Induction of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha gene expression by vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Biol Chem* 283, 11435-11444 (2008)

73. Nicolas Bazan: Survival signaling in retinal pigment epithelial cells in response to oxidative stress: significance in retinal degenerations. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 572, 531-540 (2006)

74. Pranab Mukherjee, Victor Marcheselli, Charles Serhan, Nicholas Bazan: Neurprotectin D1: A docosahexaenoic acid-derived docosatriene protects human retinal pigment epithelial cells from oxidative stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 101, 8491-8496 (2004)

75. Jorgelina Calandria, Victor Marcheselli, Pranab Mukherjee, Jasim Uddin, Jeremy Winkler, Nicos Petasis, Nicolas Bazan: Selective survival rescue in 15-Lipoxygenayse-1-deficient retinal pigment epithelial cells by the novel docosahexaenoic acid-derived mediator, neuroprotectin D1. *J Biol Chem* 284, 17877-17882 (2009)

76. Rajee Antony, Walter Lukiw, Nicolas Bazan: Neuroprotectin D1 induces dephosphorylation of Bcl-xL in a PP2A-depndent manner during oxidative stress and promotes retinal pigment epithelial cell survival. *J Biol Chem* 285, 18301-18308 (2010)

77. Vilmante Borutaite: Mitochondria as decision-makers in cell death. *Enviroment Mol Mutagen* 51, 406-416 (2010)

78. Ludivine Pradelli, Marie Beneteau, Jean-Ehrland Ricci: Mitochondrial control of caspase-dependent and independent cell death. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 67, 1589-1597 (2010)

79. Maria Van Gurp, Nele Fesjens, Geert van Loo, Xavier Saelens, Peter Vandenabeele: Mitochondrial intermembrane proteins in cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 304, 487-497 (2003)

80. Jiyang Cai, Mei Wu, Kasey Nelson, Paul Sternberg, Dean Jones: Oxidant-induced apoptosis in cultured human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 40, 959-966 (1999)

81. David Huang, Andreas Strasser: BH3-only proteins – essential initiators of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 103, 839-42 (2000)

82. Han You, Marc Pellegrini, Katsuya Tsuchihara, Kazuo Yamamoto, Georg Hacker, Miriam Erlacher, Andreas Villunger, Tak Mak: FoxO3a-dependent regulation of Puma in response to cytokine/growth factor withdrawal. *J Exp Med* 203, 1657-1663 (2006)

83. Atan Gross, James McDonnell, Stanley Korsmeyer: Bcl-2 family members and the mitochondria in apoptosis. *Genes Dev* 13, 1899-1911 (1999)

84. Yoshihide Tsujimoto, Shigeomi Shimizu, Yutaka Eguchi, Wataru Kamiike W, Hikaru Matsuda: Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL block apoptosis as well as necrosis: possible involvement of common mediators and necrotic signal transduction pathways. *Leukemia* 11, 380-382 (1997)

85. Matthew Vander Heiden, Navdeep Chandel, Edward Williamson, Paul Schumacker, Craig Thompson: Bcl-xL regulates the membrane potential and volume homeostasis of mitochondria. *Cell* 91, 627-637 (1997)

86. Minh Lam, Manjunatha Bhat, Gabriel Nunez, Jianjie Ma, Clark Distelhorst: Regulation of Bcl-xL channel activity by calcium. *J Biol Chem* 273, 17307-17310 (1998)

87. Neema Ganju, Alan Eastman: Bcl-xL and calyculin A prevent translocation of Bax to the mitochondria during apoptosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 15, 1258-1264 (2002)

88. Emily Cheng, Michael Wei, Solly Weiler, Richard Flavell, Tak Mak, Tullia Lindsten, Stanley Korsmeyer: Bcl-2, Bcl-xL sequester BH3 domain -only molecules preventing Bax- and Bak-mediated mitochondrial apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 8, 705-711 (2001)

89. Ping Yang, Jessica Wiser, James Peairs, Jessica Ebright, Zachary Zavodni, Catherine Bowed Rickman, Glenn Jaffe: Human RPE expression of cell survival factors. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 46, 1755-1764 (2005)

90. Nanfei Zhang, James Peairs, Ping Yang, Jillian Tyrrell, Jennifer Roberts, Ryszard Kole, Glenn Jaffe: The importance of Bcl-xL in the survival of human RPE cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 48, 3846-3853 (2007)

91. Gui-Fang Jin, John Hurst, Bernard Godley: Hydrogen peroxide stimulates apoptosis in cultured human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Curr Eye Res* 22, 165-173 (2001)

92. Yi-Te Hsu, Keith Wolter, Richard Youle: Cytosol-tomembrane redistribution of Bax and Bcl-xL during apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 3668-3772 (1997)

93. Keith Wolter, Yi-Te Hsu, Carolyn Smith, Amotz Nechushtan, Xu-Guang Xi, Richard Youle: Movement of Bax from the cytosol to mitochondria during apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 139, 1281-1292 (1997)

94. Amotz Nechushtan, Carolyn Smith, Itschak Lamensdorf, Soo-Han Yoon, Richard Youle: Bax and Bak coalesce into novel mitochondria-associated clusters during apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 153, 1265-1276 (2001)

95. Zoltan Oltvai, Curt Milliman, Stanley Korsmeyer: Bcl-2 heterodimerizes *in vivo* with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* 74, 609-619 (1993)

96. Kathleen Kinnally, Bruno Antonsson: A tale of two mitochondrial channels, MAC and PTP, in apoptosis. *Apoptosis* 12, 857-868 (2007)

97. Junita Sharpe, Damien Arnoult, Richard Youle: Control of mitochondrial permeability by Bcl-2 family members. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1644, 107-113 (2004)

98. Xiaoguang Cao, Melissa Liu, Jingsheng Tuo, Defen Shen, Chi-Chao Chan: The effects of quercitin in cultured human RPE cells under oxidative stress and in Ccl2/Cx3cr1 double deficient mice. *Exp Eye Res* 91, 15-25 (2010)

99. Tsun-Chuan Ho, Yuh-Cheng Yang , Huey-Chuan Cheng, Ai-Ching Wu , Show-Li Chen, Yeou-Ping Tsao: Activation of mitogen-activated proteins is essential for hydrogen peroxide – induced apoptosis in retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Apoptosis* 11, 1899-1908 (2006)

100. Ye Liang Anette Jorgensen, Charlotte Kaestel, Anne Wiencke, Ge Liu, Morten la Cour, Carsten Röpke, Mogens Nissen: Bcl-2, bax and c-Fos expression correlates to RPE cell apoptosis induced by UV-light and daunorubicin. *Curr Eye Res* 20, 25-34 (2000)

101. Hua Zou, Yuchen Li, Xuesong Liu, Xiadong Wang: An Apaf-1, cytochrome c multimeric complex is a functional apoptosome that activates procaspase-9. *J Biol Chem* 274, 11549-11556 (1999)

102. Richa Ayla, Moushami Mallik, Subhash Lakhotia: Heat shock genes – integrating cell survival and death. J Biosci 32, 595-610 (2007)

103. Imawati Budihardjo, Holt Oliver, Michael Lutter, Xu Luo, Xiaodong Wang: Biochemical pathways of caspase activation during apoptosis. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 15, 269-290 (1999)

104. David Vaux, John Silke: Mammalian mitochondrial IAP binding proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 304, 499-504 (2003)

105. Gert van Loo, Marjan van Gurp, Bart Depuydtl, Srinivasa Srinivasula, Ignacio Rodgriguez, Emad Alnemri, Kris Gevaert K, Joel Vandekerckhove, Wim Declercq, Peter Vandenabeele: The serine protease Omi/HtrA2 is released from mitochondria during apoptosis. Omi interacts with caspase-inhibitor XIAP and induces enhanced caspase activity. *Cell Death Differ* 9, 20-26 (2002)

106. Miguel Martins, Ingram Iaccarino, Tencho Tenev, Stephen Gschmeissner, Nicholas Totty, Nicholas Lemoine, John Savopoulos, Carol Gray, Caretha Creasy, Colin Dingwall, Julian Downward: The serine protease Omi/HtrA2 regulates apoptosis by binding XIAP through a reaper-like motif. *J Biol Chem* 277, 439-444 (2002)

107. Xiaoyan Ding, Mrinali Patel, Defen Shen, Alexandra Herzlich, Xiaoguang Cao, Rafael Villasmil, Kristina Klupsch, Jingsheng Tuo, Julian Downward, Chi-Chao Chan: Enhanced HtrA2/Omi expression in oxidative injury to retinal pigment epithelial cells and murine models of neurodegeneration. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 50, 4957-4966 (2009)

108. Celine Cande, Isabelle Cohen, Eric Daugas, Luigi Ravagnan, Nathanael Larochette, Naoufal Zampami, Guido Kroemer: Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF): a novel caspase-independent death effector released from mitochondria. *Biochimie* 8, 215-222 (2002)

109. Daniel Speidel: Transcription-independent p53 apoptosis: an alternative route to death. *Trends Cell Biol* 20, 14-24 (2010)

110. Todd Riley, Eduardo Sontag, Patricia Chen, Arnold Levine: Transcriptional control of human p53-regulated genes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 9, 402-412 (2008)

111. Han You Kazuo Yamamoto, Tak Wah Mak: Regulation of transactivation independent proapoptotic activity of p53 by FoxO3a. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103, 9051-9056 (2006)

112. Mirella Trinei, Marco Giorgio, Angelo Cicalese, Sara Barozzi, Andrea Ventura, Enrica Migliaccio, Elisaetaa Milia, Ines Martin Padura, Veronica Raker, Marco Maccarana, Valeria Petronilli, Saverio Minucci, Paolo Bernadi, Luisa Lanfrancone, Pier Giuseppe Pelicci: A p53-p66Shc signaling pathway controls intracellular redox status, levels of oxidationdamaged DNA and oxidative stress-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* 21, 3872-3878 (2002)

113. Abha Sharma, Rajendra Sharma, Pankaj Chaudhary, Rit Vatsyayan, Virginia Pearce, Prince Jeyabal, Piotr Zimniak, Sanjay Awasthi, Yogesh Awasthi: 4-hydroxynonenal induces p53-mediated apoptosis in retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 480, 65-94 (2008)

114. Sang Lee, Hong Jo, Kang Kim, Ju Song, Hun Chung, Young Park: Concurrent expression of heme oxygenase-1 and p53 in human retinal pigment epithelial cell line. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 365, 870-874

115. Barbro Westlund, Bolin Cai, Jilin Zhou, Janet Sparrow: Involvement of c-Abl, p53 and the MAP kinase JNK in the cell death program initiated in A2E-laden Arpe-19 cells by exposure to blue light. *Apoptosis* 14, 31-41 (2009)

116. Mythiliypriya Rajendran, Paul Thomes, Li Zhang, Suresh Veeramani, Ming-Fong Lin: P66Shc – a longevity redox protein in human prostate cancer progression and metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 29, 207-222 (2010)

117. Enrica Migliaccio, Simonetta Mele, Anna Salcini, Giuliana Pelicci, Ka-Man Lai, Giulio Superti-Furga, Tony Pawson, Pier DiFiore, Luisa Lanfrancone, Pier Pelicci: Opposite effects of the p52shc/p46shc and p66shc splicing isoforms on the EGF receptor-MAP kinase-fos signaling pathways. *EMBO J* 16, 706-716 (1997)

118. Enrica Migliaccio, Marco Giorgio, Simonetta Mele, Giuliana Pelicci, Paolo Reboldi, Pier Pandolfi, Luisa Lanfrancone, Pier Pelicci: The p66shc adaptor protein controls oxidative stress response and life span in mammals. *Nature* 402, 309-313 (1999)

119. Istvan Arany, Amir Faisal, Yoshikuni Nagamine, Robert Sarifstein: p66shc inhibits pro-survival epidermal growth factor receptor/ERK signaling during severe oxidative stress in mouse renal proximal tubule cells. *J Biol Chem* 283, 6110-6117 (2008)

120. Marco Giorgio, Enrica Migliaccio, Francesca Orsini, Demis Paolucci, Maurizio Moroni, Moroni Contursi, Giovanni Pelliccia, Lucilla Luzi, Saverio Minucci, Massimo Marcaccio, Paolo Pinton, Rosario Rizzuto, Paolo Bernardi, Francesco Paolucci, Pier Pelicci: Electron transfer between cytochrome c and p66Shc generates reactive oxygen species that trigger mitochondrial apoptosis. *Cell* 122, 221-233 (2005)

121. Zhihao Wu, Brian Rogers, Shu Kaci, Sean Hackett, Anna Sick, Peter Campochiaro: Reduction of p66Shc suppresses oxidative damage in retinal pigmented epithelial cells and retina. *J Cell Physiol* 209, 996-1005 (2006)

122. Frank Müller, Hermann Rohrer, Astrid Vogel-Höpker: Bone morphogenetic proteins specify the retinal pigment epithelium in the chick embryo. *Development* 134, 3483-3493 (2007)

123. DanHong Zhu, Xuemei Deng, Jing Xu, David Hinton: What determines the switch between atrophic and neovascular forms of age related macular degeneration? - the role of BMP4 induced senescence. *Aging* 1, 740-745 (2009)

124. DanHong Zhu, Jian Wu, Christine Spee, Stephen Ryan, David Hinton DR: BMP4 mediates oxidative stressinduced retinal pigment epithelial senescence and is overexpressed in age-related macular degeneration. *J Biol Chem* 284, 9529-9539 (2009)

125. Alexa Klettner: The induction of heat shock proteins as a potential strategy to treat neurodegenerative disorders. *Drug News Perspect* 17, 299-306 (2004)

126. Pramod Pandey, Ayman Saleh, Atsuko Nakazawa, Shailendra Kumar, Srinivasa Srinivasula, Vijay Kumar, Ralph Weichselbaum, Carlo Nalin, Emad Alnemri, Donald Kufe, Surender Kharbanda: Negative regulation of cytochrome c – mediated oligomerization of Apaf-1 and activation of procaspase-9 by heat shock protein 90. *EMBO J* 19, 4310-4322 (2000)

127. Saori Sato, Naoya Fujita, Takashi Tsuruo: Modulation of Akt kinase activity by binding to Hsp90. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 10832-10837 (2000)

128. Rong Zhang, Dianhong Luo, Robert Miao, Lanfang Bai, Qingyuan Ge, William Sessa, Wang Min: Hsp90-Akt phosphorylates ASK1 and inhibits ASK1-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene* 24, 3954-3963 (2005)

129. Guoqing Chen, Ping Cao, David Goeddel: TNFinduced recruitment and activation of the IKK complex require Cdc37 and Hsp90. *Mol Cell* 9, 401-410 (2002)

130. Kai Kaarniranta, Tuomas Ryhänen, Hannu Karjalainen, Mikko Lammi, Tiina Suuronen, Anne Huhtala, Matti Kontkanen, Markku Teräsvirta, Hannu Uusitalo, Antero Salminen: Geldanamycin increases 4-hydroxy (HNE)-induced cell death in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Neurosci Lett* 382, 185-190 (2005)

131. Ayman Saleh, Srinivasa Srinivasula, Levent Balkir, Paul Robbins, Emad Alnemri: Negative regulation of the Apaf-1 apoptosome by Hsp70. *Nat Cell Biol* 2, 476-483 (2000)

132. Marja Jaattela, Dorte Wissing, Klaus Kokholm, Tuula Kallunki, Mikala Egeblad: Hsp70 exerts its anti-apoptotic function downstream of caspase 3-like protease. *EMBO J* 17, 6124-6134 (1998)

133. Adam Stankiewicz, Guillaume Lachapelle, Cheryl Foo, Stefanie Radicioni, Dick Mosser: Hsp70 inhibits heatinduced apoptosis upstream of mitochondria by preventing Bax translocation. *J Biol Chem* 280, 38729-38739 (2005)

134. Sandeep Gurbaxani, Elise Schmitt, Celine Cande, Arnaud Parcellier, Arlette Hammann, Eric Daugas, Ilekra Kouranti, Chris Spahr, Alena Pance, Guido Kroemer, Carmen Garrido: Heat shock protein 70 binding inhibits the nuclear import of apoptosis-inducing factor. *Oncogene* 22, 6669-6678 (2003)

135. Anatoli Meriin, Julia Yaglom, Vladimir Gabai, Dick Mosser, Leonard Zon, Michael Sherman: Protein-damaging stresses activated c-Jun N-terminal kinase via inhibition of its dephosphorylation: a novel pathway controlled by Hsp72. *Mol Cell Biol* 19, 2547-2555 (1999)

136. Tracey Bailey, Naheed Kanuga, Ignacio Romero, John Greenwood, Philip Luthert, Michael Cheetham: Oxidative stress affects the junctional integrity of retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 45, 675-684 (2004)

137. Andre-Patrick Arrigo: The cellular "networking" of mammalian Hsp27 and its functions in the control of protein folding, redox state and apoptosis. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 594, 14-26 (2007)

138. Catherine Paul, Florence Manero, Sandrine Gonin, Carole Kretz-Remy, Sophie Virot, Andre Arrigo: Hsp27 as a negative regulator of cytochrome c release. *Mol Cell Biol* 22, 816-834 (2002)

139. Jean-Marie Bruey, Cecile Ducasse, Philippe Bonniaud, Luigi Ravagnan, Santos Susin, Chantal Diaz-Latoud, Sandeep Gurbuxani, Andre-Patrick Arrigo, Guido Kroemer, Eric Solary, Carmen Garrido: Hsp27 negatively regulates cell death by interacting with cytochrome c. *Nat Cell Biol* 2, 645-652 (2000) 140. Pramod Pandey, Rebecca Farber, Atsuko Nakazawa, Shailendra Kumar, Ajit Bharti, Carlo Nalin, Ralph Weichselbaum, Donald Kufe, Surender Kharbanda: Hsp27 functions as a negative regulator of cytochrome c – dependent activation of procaspase-3. *Oncogene* 19, 1975-1981 (2000)

141. Rui Wu, Hina Kausar, Paul Johnson, Diego Montoya-Durango, Michael Merchant, Madhavi Rane: Hsp27 regulates Akt activation and polymorphonuclear leukocyte apoptosis by scaffolding MK2 to Akt signal complex. *J Biol Chem* 282, 24598-25608 (2007)

142. Nataly Strunnikova, Judit Baffi, Adriano Gonzalez, Wesam Silk, Scott Cousins, Karl Csaky: Regulated heat shock protein 27 expression in human retinal pigment epithelium. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 42, 2130-2138 (2001)

143. Sergiy Kostenko, Ugo Moens: Heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation: kinase, phosphatases, functions and pathology. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 66, 3289-2307 (2009)

144. Marianne Pons, Scott Cousins, Karl Csaky, Gary Striker, Marie Marin-Castano: Cigarette smoke-related hydroquinone induces filamentous actin reorganization and heat shock protein 27 phosphorylation through p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 in retinal pigment epithelium: implications for age-related macular degeneration. *Am J Pathol* 177, 1198-1213 (2010)

145. Thomas Ingolia, Elizabeth Craig: Four small Drosophila heat shock proteins are related to each other and to mammalian alpha-crystallin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 79, 2360-2364 (1982)

146. Merideth Kamradt, Feng Chen, Vincent Cryns: The small heat shock protein alpha B-crystallin negatively regulates cytochrome c – and caspase-8-dependent activation of caspase-3 by inhibiting its autoproteolytic maturation. *J Biol Chem* 276, 16059-16063 (2001)

147. Mao YW, Liu JP, Xiang H, lie DW: Human alphaAand alphaB-crystallins bind to bax and bcl-xL to sequester their translocation during staurosporine-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* 11, 512-526 (2004)

148. Claudia Alge, Siegfried Priglinger, Aljoscha Neubauer, Anselm Kampik, Markus Zillig, Hans Bloemendal, Ulrich Welge-Lussen: Retinal pigment epithelium is protected against apoptosis by alphaB-crystallin. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 43, 3575-3582 (2002)

149. Daniel Kook, Armin Wolf, Alice Yu, Aljoscha Neubauer, Siegfried Priglinger, Anselm Kampik, Ulrich Welge-Lüssen: The protective effect of quercitin against oxidative stress in the human RPE *in vitro*. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 49, 1712-1720 (2008)

150. Subramaniam Pennathur, Yasuo Ido, Jozsef Heller, Jaeman Byun, Ratna Danda, Pablo Pergola, Joseph Williamson, Jay Heinecke: Reactive carbonyls and polyunsaturated fatty acids produce a hydroxyl radical-like species: a potential pathway for oxidative damage of retinal proteins in diabetes. *J Biol Chem* 280, 22706-22714 (2005)

151. Masaki Tanito, Michael Elliott, Yashige Kotake, Robert Anderson: Protein modifications by 4hydroxynonenal and 4-hydroxyhexenal in light-exposed rat retina. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 46, 3859-3868 (2005)

152. Masaki Tanito, Yasukazu Yoshida, Sachiko Kaidzu, Zhi-Hua Chen, Osamu Cynshi, Kou-ichi Jishage, Etsuo Niki, Akihiro Ohira: Acceleration of age-related changes in the retina in alpha-tocopherol transfer protein null mice fed a vitamin E deficient diet. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 4, 396-404 (2007)

153. Mario Dianzani: 4-hydroxynonenal from pathology to physiology. *Mol Aspects Med* 24, 263-272 (2003)

154. Rebecca Kapphahn, Babatomiwa Giwa, Kristin Berg, Heidi Roehrich, Xiao Feng, Timothy Olsen, Deborah Ferrington: Retinal proteins modified by 4hydroxynonenal: identification of molecular targets. *Exp Eye Res* 83, 165-175 (2006)

155. Nadine Knoll, Carola Ruhe, Selvaraju Veeriah, Julia Sauer, Michael Glei, Evan Gallagher, Beatrice Pool-Zobel: Genotoxicity of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal in human colon tumor cells is associated with cellular levels of gluthatione and the modulation of glutathione S-transerase A4 expression by butyrate. *Toxicol Sci* 86, 27-35 (2005)

156. Paula Malone, Rosario Hernandez: 4-hydroxynonenal, a product of oxidative stress, leads to an antioxidant response in optic nerve head astrocytes. *Exp Eye Res* 84, 444-454 (2007)

157. Anna-Liisa Levonen, Aimee Landar, Anup Ramachandran, Erin Ceaser, Dale Dickinson, Giuseppe Zanoni, Jason Morrow, Victor Darley-Usmar: Cellular mechanisms of redox cell signaling: role of cystein modifications in controlling antioxidant defence in response to electrophilic lipid oxidation products. *Biochem J* 378, 373-382 (2004)

158. Singh Choudhary, Tianlin Xiao, Satish Srivastava, Min Zhang, Liu Chan, Vergara LA, Frederik van Kuijk, Naseem Ansari: Toxicity and detoxification of lipid-derived aldehydes in cultured retinal pigmented epithelial cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 204, 122-134 (2005)

159. James McCubrey, Michelle LaHair, Richard Franklin: Reactive oxygen species-induced activation of MAP Kinase signaling pathways. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 8, 1775-1789 (2006)

160. Ana Cuadrado, Angel Nebreda: Mechanisms and functions of p38 MAPK signaling. *Biochem J* 429, 403-417 (2010)

161. Suofo Qin, Anne McLaughlin, Gerald De Vries: Protection of RPE cells from oxidative stress injury by 15deoxy-delta 12,14-prostaglandin J2 by augmenting GSH and activating MAPK. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 47, 5098-5105 (2006)

162. Alexa Klettner, Stefan Koinzer, Vicki Waetzig, Thomas Herdgen, Johann Roider: Deferoxamine mesylate is toxic for retinal pigment epithelium cells *in vitro*, and its toxicity is mediated by p38. *Cutan Ocular Tox* 29, 122-129 (2010)

163. Cady Pocrnich, Hong Liu, Mary Feng, Tianqing Peng, Qingping Feng, Cindy Hutnik: p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase protects human epithelial cells exposed to oxidative stress. *Can J Ophthalmol* 44, 431-436 (2009)

164. Anne-Lise Glotin, Armelle Calipel, Jean-Yves Brossas, Anne-Marie Faussat, Jacques Treton, Frederic Mascarelli: Sustained versus transient ERK1/2 signaling underlies the anti- and proapoptotic effects of oxidative stress in human RPE cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 47, 4614-4623 (2006)

165. Minsik Son, Aeyung Kim, Laewoo Lee, Chul-Hong Park, Jin-Chul Heo, Hyun-Jin Lee, Sang-Han Lee: Ethanol extract of Lycoris radiata induces cell death in B16F10 melanoma via p38-mediated AP-1 activation. *Oncol Rep* 24, 473-478 (2010)

166. John Kyriakis: Activation of the AP-1 transcription factor by inflammatory cytokines of the TNF family. *Gene Expr* 7, 217-231 (1999)

167. Edward Chaum, Jingang Yin, Huaitao Yang, Fridtjof Thomas, John Lang: Quantitative AP-1 gene regulation by oxidative stress in the human retinal pigment epithelium. *J Cell Biochem* 108, 1280-1291 (2009)

168. Alexandre Fernandes, Jilin Zhou, Xinyu Zhang, Qingning Bian, Janet Sparrow, Allen Taylor, Paulo Pereira, Fu Shang: Oxidative inactivation of the proteasome in retinal pigment epithelial cells. A potential link between oxidative stress and up-regulation of interleukin-8. *J Biol Chem* 283, 20745-20753 (2008)

169. Claudia Alge-Priglinger, Thomas Kreutzer, Katja Obholzer, Armin Wolf, Martin Membel, Marcus Kernt, Anselm Kampik, Siegfried Prigliner: Oxidative stressmediated induction of MMP-1 and MMP-3 in human RPE cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 50, 5495-5503 (2009)

170. Roger Davis: Signal transduction by the c-Jun N-terminal kinase. *Biochem Soc Symp* 64, 1-12 (1999)

171. Hidenori Ichijo, Eisuke Nishida, Kenji Irie, Peter ten Dijke, Masao Saitoh M, Tetsuo Moriguchi, Minoru Takagi, Kunihiro Matsumoto, Kohei Miyazono, Yukiko Gotoh: Induction of apoptosis by ASK1, a mammalian MAPKKK that activates SAPK/JNK and p38 signaling pathways. *Science* 275, 90-94 (1997)

172. Pär Gerwins, Blank Jonathan, Gary Johnson: Cloning of a novel mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase,

MEKK4, that selectively regulates the c-Jun amino terminal kinase pathway. *J Biol Chem* 272, 8288-8295 (1997)

173. Yvonne Janssen-Heininger, Ian Macara, Brooke Mossman: Co-operativity between oxidants and tumor necrosis factor in the activation of nuclear factor (NF)-kappaB: requirement of Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase in the activation of NF-kappaB by oxidants. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20, 942-952 (1999)

174. Shugo Ueda, Hiroshi Masutani, Hajime Nakamura, Toru Tanaka, Masaya Ueno, Junji Yodoi: Redox control of cell death. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 4, 405-414 (2002)

175. Jen-Liang Su, Ming-Tsan Lin, Chih-Chen Hong, Cheng-Chi Chang, Shine-Gwo Shiah, Cheng-Wen Wu, Szu-Ta Chen, Yat-Pang Chau, Min-Liang Kuo: Resveratrol induces FasL-related apoptosis through Cdc42 activation of ASK1/JNK-dependent signaling pathway in human leukemia HL-60 cells. *Carcinogenesis* 26, 1-10 (2005)

176. Michael Karin, Ewn Gallagher: From JNK to pay dirt: Jun kinases, their biochemistry, physiology and clinical importance. *IUBMB life* 52, 17-24 (2001)

177. Tetsuo Minamino, Toshiaki Yujiri, Philip Papst, Edward Chan, Gary Johnson, Naohiro Terada: MEKK1 suppresses oxidative stress-induced apoptosis of embryonic stem cell-derived cardiac myocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96, 15127-15132 (1999)

178. Edward Owuor, Ah-Ng Kong: Antioxidants and oxidants regulated signal transduction pathways. *Biochem Pharmacol* 64, 765-770 (2002)

179. Hideaki Kamata, Shi-ichi Honda, Shin Maeda, Lufen Chang, Hajime Hirata, Michael Karin: Reactive oxygen species promote TNFalpha-induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases. *Cell* 120, 649-661 (2005)

180. Benny Björkblom, Jenni Vainio, Vesa Hongisto, Thomas Herdegen, Michael Courtney, Eleanor Coffey: All JNKs can kill, but nuclear localization is critical for neuronal death. *J Biol Chem* 283, 19704-19713 (2008)

181. Vicki Waetzig, Ute Wacker, Wiebke Haeusgen, Benny Björkblom, Michael Courtney, Eleanor Coffey, Thomas Herdegen: Concurrent protective and destructive signaling of JNK2 in neuroblastoma cells. *Cell Signal* 21, 873-880 (2009)

182. Sevgi Eminel, Alexa Klettner, Lutz Roemer, Thomas Herdegen, Vicki Waetzig: JNK2 translocates to the mitochondria and mediates cytochrome c release in PC12 cells in response to 6-hydroxydopamine. *J Biol Chem* 279, 55385-55392 (2004)

183. Raphael Roduit, Daniel Schorderet: MAP kinase pathways in UV-induced apoptosis of retinal pigment epithelium Arpe19 cells. *Apoptosis* 13, 343-353 (2008)

184. Rebecca Gilley, Nikki March, Simon Cook: ERK1/2, but not ERK5, is necessary and sufficient for phosphorylation and activation of c-Fos. *Cell Signal* 21, 969-677 (2009)

185. Hadara Rubinfeld, Rony Seger: The ERK cascade: a prototype of MAPK signaling. *Mol Biotechnol* 31, 151-174 (2005)

186. Bruna Pucci, Manuela Indelicato, Valentina Paradisi, Valentina Reali, Laura Pellegrini, Michele Aventaggiato, Natalie Karpinich, Massimo Fini, Matteo Russo, John Farber, Marco Tafani: ERK-1 MAP kinase prevents TNFinduced apoptosis through bad phosphorylation and inhibition of bax translocation in HeLa cells. *J Cell Biochem* 108, 1166-1174 (2009)

187. Yeou-Ping Tsao, Tsung-Chuan Ho, Show-Li Chen, Huey-Chuan Cheng: Pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits oxidative stress-induced cell death by activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases in cultured retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Life Sci* 79, 545-550 (2006)

188. Qin Jiang, Cong Cao, Shan Lu, Rebecca Kivlin, Brittany Wallin, Wenming Chu, Zhigang Bi, Xinru Wang, Yinsheng Wan: MEK/Erk pathway mediates UVB-induced AQP1 downregulation and water permeability impairment in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Int J Mol Med* 23, 771-777 (2009)

189. Chi-Ming Chan, Jheng-Hua Huang, Hsin-Huang Lin, Han-Sun Chiang, Bing-Huei Chen, Jing-Yin Hong, Chi-Fing Hung: Protective effects of (-)-epigallocatechin gallate on UVA-induced damage in Arpe19 cells. *Mol Vis* 14, 2528-2534 (2008)

190. Robert King, Kyle Kent, Joshua Bomser: Resveratrol reduces oxidation and proliferation of human retinal pigment epithelial cells via extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibition. *Chem Biol Interact* 151, 143-149 (2005)

191. Martin Cavigelli, Wilfred Li, Anning Lin, Bing Su, Katsuji Yoshioka, Michael Karin: The tumor promotor arsenite stimulates AP-1 activity by inhibiting a JNK phosphatase. *EMBO J* 15, 6269-6279 (1996)

192. Don Anderson, Monte Radeke, Natasha Gallo, Ethan Chapin, Patrick Johnson, Christy Curletti, Lisa Hancox, Jane Hu, Jessica Ebright, Goldis Malek, Michael Hauser, Catherine Rickman, Dean Bok, Gregory Hageman, Lincoln Johnson: The pivotal role of the complement system in aging and age-related macular degeneration: hypothesis revisited. *Prog Ret Eye Res* 29, 95-112 (2010)

193. Albert Edwards, Robert Ritter, Kenneth Abel, Alisa Manning, Carolien Panhuysen, Lindsay Farrer: Complement factor H polymorphism and age-related macular degeneration. *Science* 308, 421-424 (2005)

194. Nawajes Mandal, Radha Ayyagari: Complement factor H: spatial and temporal expression and localization in the

eye. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 47, 4091-4097 (2006)

195. Mei Chen, John Forrester, Heping Xu: Synthesis of complement factor H by retinal pigment epithelial cells is down-regulated by oxidized photoreceptor outer segments. *Exp Eye Res* 84, 635-645 (2007)

196. Joshua Thurman, Brandon Renner, Kannan Kunchithapautham, Michael Holers, Bärbel Rohrer: Aseptic injury to epithelial cells alters cell surface complement regulation in a tissue specific fashion. *Ad Exp Med Biol* 644, 151-158 (2010)

197. Johanna Seddon, Sarah George, Bernard Rosner, Nadar Rifai: Progression of age-related macular degeneration: prospective assessment of C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and other cardiovascular biomarkers. *Arch Ophthalmol* 123, 774-782 (2005)

198. Kar Wah Leung, Colin Barnstable, Joyce Tombran-Tink: Bacterial endotoxin activates retinal pigment epithelial cells and induces their degeneration through IL-6 and IL-8 autocrine signaling. *Mol Immunol* 46, 1374-1386 (2009)

199. Magrit Hollborn, Volker Enzmann, Wilfried Barth, Peter Wiedemann, Leon Kohen: Changes in the mRNA expression of cytokines and chemokoines by stimulated RPE cells *in vitro*. *Curr Eye Res* 20, 488-495 (2000)

200. Wen-Chuan Wu, Dan-Ning Hu, Hua-Xin Gao, Min Chen, Dawei Wang, Richard Rosen, Steven McCormick: Subtoxic levels hydrogen peroxide-induced production of interleukin-6 by retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Mol Vis* 16, 1864-1873 (2010)

201. Daniel Brat, Anita Bellail, Erwin Van Meir: The role of interleukin-8 and its receptors in gliomagenesis and tumoral angiogenesis. *Neuro Oncol* 7, 122-133 (2005)

202. Gareth Higgins, Jiang Wang, Peter Dockery, Philip Cleary, Paul Redmond: Induction of angiogenic cytokine expression in cultured RPE by ingestion of oxidized photoreceptor outer segments. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 44, 1775-1782 (2003)

203. Corinne Joffre, Leclere Laurent, Buteau Benedicte, Martine Lucy Cabaret Stephanie: Oxysterol induced inflammation and oxidation in primary porcine retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Curr Eye Res* 32, 271-280 (2007)

204. Wolfgang Eichler, Ulrike Friedrichs, Alexander Thies, Corinna Tratz, Peter Wiedermann: Modulation of matrix metallproteinase and TIMP-1 expression by cytokines in human RPE cells. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 43, 2767-2773 (2002)

205. Maria Marin-Castano, Karl Csaky, Scott Cousins: Nonlethal oxidant injury to human retinal pigment epithelium cells causes cell membrane blebbing but decreased MMP-2 activity. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 46, 3331-3340 (2005) 206. Sharon Elliot, Paola Catanuto, William Stetler-Stevenson, Scott Cousins: Retinal pigment epithelium protection from oxidant-mediated loss of MMP-2 activation requires both MMP-14 and TIMP-2. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 47, 1696-1702 (2006)

207. Sharon Elliot, Paola Catanuto, Pedro Fernandez, Diego Espinosa-Heidmann, Michael Karl, Kenneth Korach, Scott Cousins: Subtype specific estrogen receptor action protects against changes in MMP-2 activation in mouse retinal pigmented epithelial cells. *Exp Eye Res* 86, 653-660 (2008)

208. Alexandra Herzlich, Xiaoyan Ding, Defen Shen, Robert Ross, Jingshen Tuo, Chi-Chao Chen: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor expression in murine models and humans with age-related macular degeneration. *Open Biol J* 2, 141-148 (2009)

209. Andrea Weigel, James Handa, Leonard Hjelmeland: Microarray analysis of H_2O_2 - HNE- or tBH-treated Arpe 19 cells. *Free Radic Biol Med* 33, 1419-1432 (2002)

Abbreviations: 4E-BP1: eukaryotic initiation factor 4E binding protein1, 4-HNE: 4-hydroxynonenal, AIF: apoptosis-inducing factor, AMD: age-related macular degeneration, AP-1: activator protein 1, Apaf-1: apoptosis activating factor, ARED: age-related eve disease, BH: Bcl-2 homology, BMP4: bone morphogenetic protein 4, CFH: complement factor H, ERK1/2: extracellular signalregulated kinase 1/2, FoxO1: forkhead in rhadomysarcoma (FKHR), FoxO4: acute lymphocyte leukemia-1 fused gene from chromosome X (AFX), GSK3B: glycogen synthase kinase 3ß, HtrA2/Omi: high temperature requirement protein 2, IAP: inhibitor of caspases, JNK: c-Jun Nterminal Kinase, Keap1: Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1, MAPK: mitogen activated protein kinases, MDM2: mouse double minute 2, MMP: matrix metalloproteinase, MPT: mitochondrial permeability transition, mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin, NFkB: nuclear factor 'kappa-light-chain-enhancer' of activated B-cells, NO: nitric oxide, NPD1: Neuroprotectin D1, Nrf2: nuclear factor erythroid-2 related factor 2, p66Shc: 66 kDa protooncogene Src homologous-collagen homologue protein, p70S6K: p70 S6 kinase, PI3K: phosphatidylinositide 3kinase, POS: photoreceptor outer segments, PP2A: protein phosphatese 2A, PtInP₃: phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5trisphosphate, PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids, H₂O₂: hvdrogen peroxide, HSF-1: heat shock factor protein 1, Hsp: heat shock protein, ROS: reactive oxygen species, RPE: retinal pigment epithelium, SOD: superoxide dismutase, t-BH: tert-butylhydroperoxide, VEGF: vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-R: vascular endothelial growth factor receptor, XIAP: X-linked inhibitor of apotosis

Key Words: AMD, Akt, apoptosis, MAPK, Nrf2, ERK1/2, oxidative stress, RPE, VEGF, Review

Send correspondence to: Alexa Klettner, University Medical Center, University of Kiel, Department of Ophthalmology, Arnold-Heller-Str. 3, 24105 Kiel, Germany, Tel: 49 431 597 2401, Fax: 49 431 597 2428, Email: aklettner@auge.uni-kiel.de

Black arrows indicate activation, red arrows indicate inhibition. Arrows that are crossed out by two black parallel lines indicate that the pathway is inhibited by an upstream effector. A "p" in a green circle indicates activating phosphorylation, a "p" in a red circle indicates inhibitory phosphorylation.

Black arrows indicate activation, red arrows indicate inhibition. Arrows that are crossed out by two black parallel lines indicate that the pathway is inhibited by an upstream effector. A "p" in a green circle indicates activating phosphorylation, a "p" in a red circle indicates inhibitory phosphorylation.

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol4S.htm